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INTRODUCTION 

The Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians (“Sault Tribe”) seeks to take the Sibley 

and Lansing Parcels into trust for the purpose of building a casino on the land and engaging in 

gaming activities.  The Sault Tribe’s trust application, supplementary materials, and complaint, 

as well as the Department of the Interior’s (“Interior”) own trust decisions, all acknowledge the 

purpose for acquiring these parcels is to open casinos, and that the basis for the “economic 

development” analysis here is gaming revenue.  In attempting to defeat intervention by the tribes 

whose markets it seeks to invade, the Sault Tribe tries to recast this litigation as being narrowly 

about whether the Sault Tribe may hold the parcels in trust status pursuant to the Michigan 

Indian Land Claims Settlement Act, Pub. L. No. 105-143, 111 Stat. 2652 (1997) (“MILCSA”).  

But the Sault Tribe itself invokes the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701–2721 

(1988) (“IGRA”) by relying on gaming revenue and data to meet the MILCSA “enhancement” 

requirement, both in its applications and in the complaint here.  It has put at issue the legality of 

gaming on these parcels.  Although the Court could affirm the agency decision without 

addressing gaming issues by relying on the same narrow rationale the agency used, it cannot 

grant the relief expressly sought here—a ruling that gaming revenue satisfies MILCSA’s 

“enhancement” requirement and an order requiring the lands to be taken into trust on that basis—

without addressing the legality of such gaming revenue.   

Accordingly, NHBP satisfies the standard for intervention as of right for the same reason 

that it participated in the administrative proceedings leading to the trust decisions:  to protect its 

economic and sovereign interest in lawful gaming under IGRA from illegal competition. 
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ARGUMENT 

I. THE NHBP’S INTEREST IN PREVENTING TRUST ACQUISITIONS THAT 
ARE PREMISED ON ILLEGAL INDIAN GAMING MEETS THE STANDARD 
TO INTERVENE AS OF RIGHT UNDER RULE 24(a)(2)  

The Sault Tribe argued to Interior that the lands at issue here meet MILCSA’s 

requirements due to the gaming revenue it expects the lands to generate.  And the only purpose 

articulated by the Sault Tribe for having this land taken into trust is to make it eligible for Indian 

gaming under IGRA.  Interior’s decisions rejected the Sault Tribe’s request to have these 

proposed casino sites (located in NHBP’s market) taken into trust.  It is undisputed that without 

such trust status, no gaming may occur on the land.     

The Sault Tribe seeks to redefine the issues in this case to exclude the harms that these 

casino sites would cause to NHBP.  It does not attempt to dispute here that NHBP has standing to 

challenge, and an interest in protecting its gaming facilities against, competitive harms from an 

illegal tribal casino.  Rather, the Sault Tribe and Federal Defendants ask this Court to accept the 

premise that this case—where the Sault Tribe seeks mandamus to require Interior to take its 

proposed casino sites into trust—”is not a case about casino gaming on tribal lands,” Defs.’ Opp. 

to Detroit Casinos’ Mot. to Intervene, Dkt. 29 at 11 (“Defs.’ Opp.”), repeating like a mantra that 

“this litigation is not about gaming at all,” Plf.’s Opp. to Proposed Intervenors’ Mots. to 

Intervene, Dkt. 28 at 7 (“Plf.’s Opp.”).  These Jedi-mind-trick statements are precisely the 

opposite of what the Sault Tribe itself has put at issue, both in its applications and in its 

complaint.  As discussed further below, the Sault Tribe expressly argued that MILCSA’s 

requirements for trust acquisition are satisfied in part by the gaming activities it plans to conduct 

on these parcels, and Interior expressly rejected that argument.  See July 2017 Interior Letter, 

Dkt. 1-6 at 3–5 (“the Tribe has not offered any evidence of its plans to use the gaming revenue to 

benefit its existing lands or its members”).  Further, the complaint here expressly seeks reversal 
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of Interior’s rejection, as well as an order of mandamus directing the defendants to accept the 

Sault Tribe’s assertions regarding gaming activities satisfying the requirements of MILCSA.  See 

Compl. at ¶¶ 101(c), (d), (e); see also, e.g., Compl. at ¶ 55 (“The [Sault] Tribe further reiterated 

its longstanding position . . . that revenue from gaming operations on the parcels would directly 

support economic development on and improvement of existing tribal lands.”); ¶ 86 (“the 

Department’s assertion that ‘the Tribe has not offered any evidence of its plans to use the gaming 

revenue to benefit its existing members,’ [] not only ignores evidence in the administrative 

record that demonstrated precisely that point, but is independently arbitrary and capricious 

because it irrationally overlooks that IGRA requires that gaming revenues principally be used for 

such purposes.”).  Thus, this Court cannot grant the relief the Sault Tribe seeks without 

addressing the Sault Tribe’s assertion of the lawful ability to generate gaming revenues on these 

lands.   

Simply put, the Sault Tribe cannot have it both ways.  It cannot on the one hand demand 

that land be taken into trust for purposes of gaming by relying on the economic benefits such 

gaming would provide, and on the other demand that review exclude all consideration of the 

legality of the gaming on which the applications are based. 

A. NHBP claims an interest relating to the transaction at issue here, and has standing, 
because the Sault Tribe relies on gaming revenue in NHBP’s market as the basis for 
relief sought in its complaint. 

The Sault Tribe disputes whether, under Rule 24(a)(2), NHBP “claims an interest relating 

to the property or transaction that is the subject of the action” such that disposition “of the action 

may as a practical matter impair or impede [NHBP’s] ability to protect its interest.”  Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 24(a)(2).  It does so by characterizing the issues in this proceeding and the administrative 

proceedings below as abstract determinations about trust status, wholly divorced from any 

reliance on or consideration of gaming activities on the parcels at issue.  See Plf.’s Opp. at 23-26.  
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After falsely reframing this case as such an abstract question, it then argues that NHBP has no 

interest in the abstract question of trust status.  To bolster this reframing, it misleadingly suggests 

that gaming issues must be addressed later in some other forum, and that this possibility of a 

future decision adverse to the Sault Tribe attenuates the damage to NHBP of the relief it seeks 

here. 

To the contrary, this case seeks to require Interior to accept applications to have casino 

sites taken into trust for purposes of gaming activities in NHBP’s market, relying expressly on 

the gaming revenues such activities would generate.  NHBP has an interest in such a transaction. 

Moreover, as discussed further below, a careful reading of the Sault Tribe’s statements shows it 

asserts the legal right to conduct gaming on these properties as soon as they are taken into trust, 

whether or not it seeks any further legal approvals before doing so.   

1. The trust applications rely on the lawful ability to generate gaming revenues on 
these parcels. 

In its trust applications, the Sault Tribe argues that it meets MILCSA’s requirements 

because it “acquired or will acquire the Parcels with interest or income from the Self-Sufficiency 

Fund for the ‘enhancement or consolidation of tribal lands’ within the meaning of MILCSA 

§ 108(c)(5).”  Lansing Parcels Trust Submission, Dkt. 1–3 at 5; Sibley Parcel Trust Submission, 

Dkt. 1–2 at 4.  It expressly relies on anticipated gaming revenue from the parcels to satisfy 

MILCSA’s “enhancement” requirement thus construed.  For example:   

Pursuant to the Comprehensive Development agreement with the City of Lansing, these 
parcels are to be developed in tandem, allowing mutual enhancement of both properties. 
See Ex. 3 to Lansing fee-to-trust submission. A temporary gaming facility first will be 
built on the Corner Parcel. Id. at Recital H. This development will allow the 
construction of the much larger permanent facility on the Showcase Parcel, which 
will in turn allow construction on the Corner Parcel, in partnership with the City of 
Lansing, of either a “boutique casino” or mutually agreeable re-use. Id. 

* * * 
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In sum, there can be no doubt that acquisition of the Sibley and Lansing Parcels will be 
an “enhancement of tribal lands” within the meaning of MILCSA under any reasonable 
interpretation of that phrase, including the interpretation articulated in the Department’s 
Bay Mills decision. The acquisition will not only increase the Tribe’s overall lands, but 
will generate revenue that will allow the Tribe to enhance -- make better -- its existing 
nearby lands in Huron Township and Lansing respectively. 

Sibley and Lansing Parcels Supplemental Information, Dkt. 1–4 at 14 (emphasis added). 

It is my opinion that both properties, together and separately will substantially 
enhance the Tribe’s current land holdings.  In particular, the two trust acquisitions 
will allow the operation of casinos that, in turn, will enable the Tribe to make 
substantial improvements to its existing facilities on tribal lands in the Upper 
Peninsula. . . . Indeed, one of the primary purposes of the trust acquisitions is to enable 
needed revenue streams to ensure the Tribe is able to maintain and improve the value of 
the Tribe’s existing land holdings. 

Dkt. 1-4 at 69 (Affidavit of the Sault Tribe’s Chief Financial Officer for the Kewadin Casinos).   

Moreover, the Sault Tribe’s submissions to Interior assert that gaming in some form on 

these properties is a certainty once land is in trust.  “At a minimum, the Tribe intends to conduct 

Class II gaming on the property; if lawfully permitted under IGRA and under the Tribe’s tribal-

state gaming compact with the State of Michigan, the Tribe may also conduct Class III gaming 

activities.”  Dkt. 1-2 at 4-5, n.1; Dkt. 1-3 at 5-6, n.1 (identical statement except notes 

“properties” instead of “property”).1  To do so, the Sault Tribe has already “executed an 

Intergovernmental Agreement and a Law Enforcement Agreement,” Dkt. 1-3 at 6, n.1, and a 

Comprehensive Development Agreement with the City of Lansing, Lansing Economic 

Development Corporation, and Lansing Future LLC.  Id. at 32-93.  The Sault Tribe provided 

                                                 
1 The distinction between Class II and Class III gaming is immaterial for purposes of 

NHBP’s motion to intervene.  Although a Class III facility would likely cause greater harm than 
a Class II facility, either type of gaming by the Sault Tribe on these parcels would harm NHBP.  
Class II casinos are allowed to operate certain kinds of slot machines that are designed to 
compete directly against Class III slot machines. See IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2703(7), (8) (defining 
Class II and Class III gaming).  
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supporting documentation from townships and stated that it enjoys “broad support” for the 

Tribe’s gaming plans “in the local community.”  Id. at 6, n.1.  

Having thus relied on the ability to generate lawful gaming revenue as the premise for the 

applications here, the Sault Tribe cannot now be heard to argue that it is not “legally relevant” 

(Plf.’s Opp. at 9) whether its trust submission violates its tribal-state compact with Michigan or 

whether it would violate IGRA to conduct gaming on this property.   

2. The complaint seeks relief that requires this Court to address the legality of 
gaming on these parcels. 

The complaint continues the Sault Tribe’s reliance on its assertion that gaming revenues 

will be generated lawfully on the parcels at issue.  It expressly seeks relief from this Court 

premised on the assertion that the Sault Tribe has the lawful ability to generate such gaming 

revenues on these parcels.  NHBP undoubtedly asserts an interest in preventing such relief from 

being granted. 

Interior rejected the Sault Tribe’s reliance on gaming revenues as an “enhancement” 

under MILCSA.  It did not directly address the legality of gaming, but rather assumed for 

purposes of its decision that such gaming could be conducted lawfully and generate revenue as 

an economic development venture.  “Although the Tribe does not at this time ask for a gaming 

eligibility determination, and the Tribe’s use of the Parcels for gaming is not relevant to the 

determination of whether the acquisitions qualify for mandatory land-into-trust acquisition by the 

Department, the Tribe’s intended use of the Parcels for economic development is relevant to the 

Tribe’s arguments that the acquisitions satisfy the requirements of MILCSA.”  January 2017 

Interior Letter, Dkt. 1-5 at 4, n.24 (emphasis added); see also Dkt. 1-6 at 3, n.11.  Analyzing 

whether the asserted gaming revenues satisfied MILCSA, Interior determined that there was a 

failure of proof:   “Even assuming we could accept that the potential for revenues arising from 
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activity on, as opposed to the acquisition of, land satisfied MILCSA’s requirements, the Tribe 

has not offered any evidence of its plans to use the gaming revenue to benefit its existing lands or 

its members.”  Dkt. 1-6 at 5. 

In its complaint, the Sault Tribe now seeks a ruling from this Court that gaming revenues 

on these parcels will enhance its lands within the meaning of MILCSA.  “The July Denial Letter 

is arbitrary and capricious,” Compl. at ¶ 84, because it “is plainly contradicted” by “tribal 

resolutions” addressing future uses of anticipated gaming revenues.  Id. at ¶ 85.  The complaint 

directly challenges “the Department’s assertion that ‘the Tribe has not offered any evidence of its 

plans to use the gaming revenue to benefit its existing members.’”  Id. at ¶ 86.  It argues that this 

“ignores evidence in the administrative record that demonstrated precisely that point,” and 

“overlooks that IGRA requires that gaming revenues principally be used for such purposes.  See 

25 U.S.C. §§2710(b)(2)(B), (d)(1)(A)(ii).”  Id.   

In these circumstances, this Court cannot require the agency to take this land into trust 

without addressing the issue that Interior assumed away.  Even if this Court were somehow to 

reject Interior’s interpretation of MILCSA and to conclude that lawful economic development 

generally would constitute “enhancement” of tribal lands, unlawful gaming in violation of IGRA 

and Section 9 of the Sault Tribe’s compact would not constitute enhancement. Therefore, 

although this Court can uphold the agency’s decision without addressing gaming issues, it cannot 

reverse the agency and grant the relief the Sault Tribe seeks without addressing the legality of 

gaming on these parcels, including whether gaming would violate IGRA and Section 9 of the 

Sault Tribe’s compact.   

In prior proceedings involving these same parcels, the United States District Court for the 

Western District of Michigan found that Section 9 of the Compact expressly barred the Sault 
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Tribe from submitting the Lansing trust applications and entered an injunction against the Sault 

Tribe.  Michigan v. Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians, No. 1:12-CV-962, 2013 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 188956, at *24–25 (W.D. Mich. Mar. 5, 2013) rev’d on jurisdictional grounds, 737 

F.3d 1075 (6th Circ. 2013) (“The Sault Tribe’s argument that Section 9 of the Compact has no 

bearing on such trust acquisitions is weaker than the State’s argument to the contrary.”).  Even 

though the District Court’s decision was reversed on jurisdictional grounds, the Sixth Circuit 

suggested that future consideration of Section 9 of the Compact and IGRA would be appropriate 

at this very stage of the trust application process:  “The reviewing court will be in a much better 

position to rule on the legal issues if it has before it the concrete circumstances under which the 

land has been taken into trust.” Michigan v. Sault Ste. Marie Tribe of Chippewa Indians, 737 F.3d 

1075, 1081–82 (6th Cir. 2013).  Section 9 expressly bars the trust submissions that are at issue 

here.  It is directed at the act of submitting the trust applications themselves, not merely at 

subsequent gaming activities:  “An application to take land in trust for gaming purposes pursuant 

to § 20 of IGRA (25 U.S.C. § 2719) shall not be submitted to the Secretary of the Interior in the 

absence of a prior written agreement” addressing revenue-sharing with other tribes.  Sault Tribe 

Compact, Dkt. 20-1 at 13 (emphasis added).  The Sault Tribe seeks an order from this Court 

requiring Interior to approve trust applications that violate Section 9.  And it seeks to have this 

Court decide that issue without hearing from the tribes that Section 9 protects, and indeed, 

without any consideration of the issue at all.  And to top it off, it excuses itself by arguing that 

NHBP will have some later opportunity to invoke Section 9, when Section 9 prohibits the act of 

even submitting the applications the Sault Tribe seeks to have judicially mandated here.  NHBP 

is entitled to intervene to address these issues. 
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Indeed, the Sault Tribe implicitly concedes the importance of the Section 9 issue in this 

case when it addresses the merits of the issue in its brief.  See Plf.’s Opp. at 25, n.6 (“For several 

reasons, § 9 of the Compact does not apply to the Tribe’s MILCSA submissions.”)  It is precisely 

to argue this point and other such issues that NHBP seeks intervention, and it is enough that 

NHBP “claims an interest” under Section 9 here.  “[A] determination of the merits of [a proposed 

intervenor’s] claim is not appropriate at this threshold stage.”  Am. Tel. & Tel. Co., 642 F.2d 

1285, 1291 (D.C. Cir. 1980).  It is indicative of the Sault Tribe’s entire approach to intervention 

that the Sault Tribe asserts for itself the right to preemptively argue this question now but seeks 

to exclude NHBP from intervening to address the issue.  

3. The Court can decide any legal reasons for affirming the agency that the agency 
did not address.  

As just shown, the applications and complaint here expressly ask the Court to address the 

legality of gaming on this parcel.  But even if that were not already directly at issue, it would be 

proper for the Court to address this issue as a basis for upholding the agency’s decision, and 

therefore it is proper for NHBP to intervene to argue the point.  Where only legal requirements 

are at issue, and there is not an exercise of discretion within the agency’s expertise, an agency 

decision “must be affirmed if the result is correct” even if the agency “relied upon a wrong 

ground or gave a wrong reason.”  SEC v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 88 (1943) (quoting 

Helvering v. Gowran, 302 U.S. 238, 245 (1937)) (internal quotation marks omitted).  “If the 

action rests upon an administrative determination—an exercise of judgment in an area which 

Congress has entrusted to the agency—of course it must not be set aside because the reviewing 

court might have made a different determination were it empowered to do so.”  Id. at 94.  By 

contrast, “[a] reviewing court can (and should) affirm an agency decision on a legal ground not 

relied on by the agency if there is no issue of fact, policy, or agency expertise.”  In re Comiskey, 
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554 F.3d 967, 974 (Fed. Cir. 2009) (interpreting Chenery, 318 U.S. 80).  “[T]he Chenery doctrine 

is not applied inflexibly.”  Fleshman v. West, 138 F.3d 1429, 1433 (Fed. Cir. 1998).  “Chenery 

only limits judicial review of ‘factual determination[s] or . . . policy judgment[s] that [the 

agency] alone is authorized to make.’”  Canonsburg Gen. Hosp. v. Burwell, 807 F.3d 295, 304–

06 (D.C. Cir. 2015) (quoting Shea v. Dir., Office of Workers’ Comp. Programs, 929 F.2d 736, 739 

n. 4 (D.C. Cir. 1991) (alterations original).  “The rule established in Chenery only applies to 

agency actions that involve policymaking or other acts of agency discretion.”  Id. (quoting Horne 

v. MSPB, 684 F.2d 155, 158 n. 4 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (emphasis original); cf. Athlone Indus., Inc. v. 

Consumer Prod. Safety Comm’n, 707 F.2d 1485, 1489 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (explaining that 

exhaustion of administrative remedies should not apply where “strictly a legal issue” is in 

dispute, “[n]o factual development or application of agency expertise will aid the court’s 

decision” and “a decision by the court [will not] invade the field of agency expertise or 

discretion”).   

These precedents support NHBP’s intervention in this case to address the illegality of 

gaming on these parcels as a legal ground for affirming the agency.  The court can, and should, 

affirm the agency’s decision on the appropriate legal grounds not relied on by the agency.  

Section 9 explicitly states that, 

An application to take land in trust for gaming purposes pursuant to § 20 of IGRA (25 
U.S.C. § 2719) shall not be submitted to the Secretary of the Interior in the absence of a 
prior written agreement between the Tribe and the State’s other federally recognized 
Indian Tribes that provides for each of the other Tribes to share in the revenue of the off-
reservation gaming facility that is the subject of the § 20 application. 

Dkt. 20-1 at 13.  The Sault Tribe agreed not to submit an application to take land in trust for 

gaming purposes pursuant to § 20 of IGRA without the stipulated prior written agreement, yet 

the Sault Tribe submitted a land in trust application for gaming purposes anyway.  Interior did 

not consider whether the Sault Tribe violated this Section 9 compact mandate or whether gaming 
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on these parcels is prohibited by IGRA.  Under Chenery, IGRA and Section 9 of the Sault 

Tribe’s compact present further or independent reasons for affirming the agency’s rejection of 

these applications, questions of law that are within the scope of review.   

B. The relief the Sault Tribe seeks would cause NHBP injury that is neither speculative 
nor indirect, and disposition of this action would as a practical matter impair or 
impede its ability to prevent that injury. 

The Sault Tribe does not dispute that the relief it seeks would affect NHBP.  Rather, it 

seeks to characterize these harms as attenuated, as something other than what it calls a “legal 

effect.”  Plf.’s Opp. at 7.  But the plain language of Rule 24 is to the contrary:  it requires only 

that disposition of the action “may as a practical matter impair or impede the movant’s ability to 

protect its interest.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 24 (a)(2) (emphasis added). 

As an initial matter, the Sault Tribe cannot be heard to argue that its ability to conduct 

gaming on this land is speculative given the representations it has made to the contrary in its 

applications and in its complaint.  Again, it cannot have it both ways.  Moreover, it plainly 

asserts that “there is no legal requirement” that it obtain any further determination of gaming 

eligibility once the land is in trust.  Plf.’s Opp. at 13.  Indeed, it is telling that the Sault Tribe felt 

the need to submit a declaration to this Court attesting that it will opt to seek such a 

determination before conducting gaming, see Dkt. 28-1 at 1; this presupposes that such a 

determination is not legally required of its own force.  Such a voluntary declaration throwing up 

an additional self-imposed hurdle cannot defeat standing.  If pressed, the Sault Tribe would have 

to candidly admit that it asserts the right to commence gaming without such a determination.  

And as the Sault Tribe itself coyly notes, it could potentially begin gaming within 120 days after 

the parcels are taken into trust (or as soon as 60 days if it seeks and is granted expedited review 

under 25 C.F.R. § 559.2(a)(1)).  See Plf.’s Opp. at 13 (“a tribe must provide NIGC with notice 

120 days before opening a Class III gaming facility”) (emphasis added). 
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In any event, courts have not agreed with the Sault Tribe’s restrictive theory of 

causation—that it is not enough for the relief requested to be a but for cause and proximate cause 

of harm to a proposed intervenor, but must be the final temporal event in the chain of causation.  

“Whether a proposed intervenor is ‘so situated that the disposition of an action may as a practical 

matter impair or impede [its] ability to protect [its] interest,’ Fed.R.Civ.P. 24(a), is determined by 

‘looking to the practical consequences of denying intervention, even where the possibility of 

future challenge to the regulation remains available.’”  Akiachak Native Cmty. v. U.S. Dep’t of 

Interior, 584 F. Supp. 2d 1, 6–7 (D.D.C. 2008) (citing Fund for Animals, 322 F.3d at 735 

(internal quotation marks omitted) (recognizing that even if the intervenor could challenge the 

decision in a subsequent lawsuit, reversing an unfavorable ruling in a subsequent case would be 

“difficult and burdensome”)). 

The Sault Tribe cites an unreported, out-of-circuit case to claim that “[i]njuries related to 

the possible building of a casino are hypothetical and not fairly traceable to an agency action that 

affirmatively declined to determine whether or not a casino could be built on the Property.”  

Plf.’s Opp. at 18 (citing Stop the Casino 101 Coalition v. Salazar, 384 F. App’x 546, 548 (9th 

Cir. 2010)), but that case is not on point because it involved citizens raising only general 

concerns regarding “potential economic, environmental, and quality of life injuries.”  Stop The 

Casino 101 Coal., 384 F. App’x at 548.  It is unlike cases in this Circuit involving real and 

specific interests related to anticipated casino impacts, such as Patchak v. Salazar, 632 F.3d 702, 

704 (D.C. Cir. 2011), aff’d by 567 U.S. 209 (2012) (“In terms of Article III standing, the impact 

of the Band’s facility on Patchak’s way of life constituted an injury-in-fact fairly traceable to the 

Secretary’s fee-to-trust decision, an injury the court could redress with an injunction that would 

in effect prevent the Band from conducting gaming on the property.”).  Likewise, in Mashpee 
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Wampanoag Tribe v. Zinke, No. 1:18-CV-02242 (D.D.C. Feb. 21, 2019) (minute order), this 

Court allowed residents to intervene in a tribe’s action to build its proposed casino by contesting 

Interior’s decision not to hold land in trust for the tribe.  NHBP as a sovereign tribal government 

possesses interests that are as much or more so directly related to the Sault Tribe’s gaming plans 

than those at issue in Mashpee. 

The Sault Tribe’s efforts to distinguish Forest County Potawatomi Community v. United 

States and Connecticut v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior are unavailing.  It is true that Forest County and 

Connecticut involved IGRA during the compact amendment process, rather than a land-into-trust 

decision, but that is a distinction without a difference.  See Forest Cty. Potawatomi Cmty. v. 

United States, 317 F.R.D. 6 (D.D.C. 2016); Connecticut v. United States DOI, 344 F. Supp. 3d 

279 (D.D.C. 2018).  Both involved review of legal prerequisites to gaming, both held that a 

change to “competitive conditions ‘clearly amounts to a concrete injury,’” and both held that the 

possibility of subsequent obstacles to the gaming at issue did not defeat intervention.  Forest 

Cty., 317 F.R.D. at 12 (quoting Lac du Flambeau Band of Lake Superior Chippewa Indians v. 

Norton, 422 F.3d 490, 497 (7th Cir. 2005)).  In both Forest County and Connecticut, the existing 

parties similarly opposed a proposed intervenor by arguing that some future event needed to 

occur in order for the alleged gaming injury to be definite.  And in both cases, courts rejected 

such artificial analysis. 

In Forest County, the Plaintiff contended that “Menominee would suffer no cognizable 

injury if the Court grants Plaintiff’s requested relief because a decision could not ‘enable 

Menominee to obtain gubernatorial concurrence’ on an application to operate a casino.”  Id. at 

12.  The Court rejected the argument by relying on the plain terms of Rule 24: “[t]he requested 

relief, if granted, would, as a practical matter, impede the Menominee’s efforts to obtain a 
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gubernatorial concurrence and would thereby impede” its gaming efforts.  Id.  “Even if there may 

be other impediments to the pursuit of a Kenosha casino by the Menominee, such factors do not 

undercut the Menominee’s interest in an affirmance of the decision disapproving” the agency 

decision at issue.  Id. at 14, n.9.   

Likewise, in Connecticut, the parties asserted that the proposed intervenor’s alleged 

injuries were “too conjectural or hypothetical” to support standing with respect to the Secretary’s 

decisions to approve the Compact Amendment, because the State legislature’s actions, rather 

than the Secretary’s decision, would directly affect the commercial casino market and cause the 

proposed intervenor’s alleged injuries; the proposed intervenor still needed to “seek approval 

from a local government and the Connecticut legislature to enter the commercial market.”  

Connecticut, 344 F. Supp. at 300-01 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).  The Court 

rejected this reasoning and held that approving the agency’s decision “would directly affect the 

market by removing the final hurdle to” a new casino less than 20 miles away from the proposed 

intervenor’s facility.  Id. at 301 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). 

NHBP’s competitive injury would be prevented if Interior’s decision is upheld.  “As a 

practical matter,” affirming Interior’s decision on any ground would directly prevent injury to 

NHBP.  Both Forest County and Connecticut hold that competitive injury supports intervention, 

and is not speculative even if there are additional steps to take before the ultimate harm is fully 

realized.  NHBP is entitled to intervene to prevent such harm. 

C. The Defendants do not adequately represent the NHBP’s interests. 

The agency here ducked the issue of whether the Sault Tribe’s proposed gaming on these 

parcels would be lawful, including whether such gaming would violate Section 9 of the Sault 

Tribe’s compact and whether gaming would be allowed under Section 20 of IGRA.  And while 

the defendants do not oppose NHBP’s intervention, they echo the Sault Tribe’s efforts to 
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persuade the court to duck the issue as well, arguing that “[t]his is not a case about casino 

gaming on tribal lands,” Defs.’ Opp. at 11, and is not about “whether Plaintiff will be able to 

conduct gaming on such land.”  Id. at 2.  Plainly, the defendants have disclaimed any intent to 

serve as adequate representatives of NHBP on these issues.  Representation is not adequate 

where the agency confines itself to narrower grounds for defending its decision than the full 

array of arguments available to it.   

Further, the United States’ trust duties to both the Sault Tribe and to NHBP make it ill-

suited to argue issues as to the application of IGRA, Section 9 of the Sault Tribe and state’s 

compact, and the applicability of the Indian canon of construction, where the trust interests of 

competing tribes are intertwined.  Again, the Sault Tribe attempts to litigate this question on the 

merits in a footnote in its opposition to intervention, see Plf.’s Opp. at 28–29, n.8.  But this 

attempt to pre-empt consideration of the merits only further admits the need for fuller litigation 

of the issues than the existing parties are willing to present.  The defendants here are not 

adequate representatives of the other tribal interests at stake, and amicus status would not confer 

on NHBP the standing to appeal any adverse decision should that be necessary.  In these 

circumstances, the standards for intervention as of right are amply met. 

II. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT NHBP 
PERMISSIVE INTERVENTION  

For the reasons set forth above, NHBP’s right to intervene is clear.  However, if the court 

disagrees, permissive intervention is still warranted because NHBP “has a claim or defense that 

shares with the main action a common question of law or fact.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 24 (b)(1)(B).  

Among other things, NHBP seeks to address the relief sought in the complaint premised on the 

issue of whether the Sault Tribe has made a showing of “enhancement” under MILCSA by 

relying on gaming revenues.  NHBP will show it has not because such gaming would be illegal.  
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The issue is on the face of the complaint and must be addressed by the Court in any event.  

NHBP should be permitted to intervene to litigate this issue and other related issues. 

III. NHBP DOES NOT OPPOSE REASONABLE CONDITIONS ON 
INTERVENTION 

NHBP commits that if it is granted intervention, it will follow the current scheduling 

order.  NHBP opposes any requirement that it file joint briefs with other intervenors, but it does 

not oppose reasonable page limits “to ensure the fair, efficacious, and prompt resolution of the 

litigation.”  Forest Cty., 317 F.R.D. at 15 (citations omitted).  No existing party is addressing the 

gaming issues at the core of this case, so there should not be undue limitations placed on 

intervenors.  After conferring with the other putative intervenors, NHBP agrees with the Sault 

Tribe’s proposed page limits of 30 pages for principal briefs and 15 pages for reply briefs so long 

as those limits apply to each intervenor separately. 

CONCLUSION 

Pursuant to Rule 24(a)(2), the NHBP has a right to intervene in this suit to oppose the 

complaint. Alternatively, the Court should permit the NHBP to intervene under Rule 24(b)(1)(B). 

Donald R. Pongrace 
Allison C. Binney 
/s/ Merrill C. Godfrey 
Merrill C. Godfrey  
Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, LLP 
1333 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, D.C. 20036-1564 
(202) 887-4000 
dpongrace@akingump.com 
abinney@akingump.com 
mgodfrey@akingump.com 
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